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PER CURI AM *

The governnent, followi ng Dw ght Lynn Harrill's conviction of
attenpting to manufacture nethanphetam ne, brought a civil
forfeiture proceedi ng, seeking to confiscate certain property that
Harrill either purchased with the proceeds of sales of controlled

substances or used to facilitate violations of the Controlled

Local Rule 47.5.1 provides: "The publication of opinions that
have no precedential value and nerely decide particular cases on the basis of
wel | -settled principles of |aw inposes needl ess expense on the public and
burdens on the | egal profession." Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has
determ ned that this opinion should not be published.



Subst ances Act.
Al t hough Harrill denied the governnent's allegations and supplied
counter-affidavits to the governnent's notion for summary judgnent,
the district court granted the summary judgnent and ordered the
forfeiture of the property. Harrill now appeals, arguing that: (1)
the governnment did not denponstrate as a matter of |aw that each
forfeited asset had a substantial connection to Harrill's drug
activities; (2) the governnent's conplaint was not sufficiently
particul ar under Rule E(2)(a) of the Supplenental Rules for Certain
Admralty and Maritine Cains; and (3) the affidavits underlying
the search warrants used by the governnent to seize the property
did not establish probable cause for seizure. W affirmin part,
and reverse and renmand in part.
I

Pursuant to search warrants, Drug Enforcenment Adm nistration
("DEA") agents seized certain property fromHarrill's office and a
rented storage facility, including I|aboratory chemcals and
equi pnent (valued at $50,000); $7,000 in cash; one facsimle
machi ne (valued at $2,400); one cellular telephone (valued at
$1,700); and one conputer and its accessories (valued at $2,500).
In its nmotion for summary judgnent, the governnent filed the
affidavit of DEA Special Agent Mark Juvrud, who asserted that
Harrill utilized t he sei zed property to manuf act ure
met hanphet am ne. Conversely, Harrill filed counter-affidavits to
support his contention that the itens seized by the governnent were

used legitimately in his painting business.
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I

Under 21 U S.C. 8§ 881(a)(6)(1988), parties forfeit to the
United States "all noneys . . . or other things of value furnished
or intended to be furnished in exchange for a control |l ed substance
., all proceeds traceable to such an exchange, and all noneys
used or intended to be used to facilitate any violation of
this subchapter.” In a suit under this section, the governnent
must "show probable cause for [its] belief that a substanti al
connection exists between the property to be forfeited and a crine
under Title 21." United States v. One 1987 Mercedes 560 SEL, 919
F.2d 327, 331 (5th Cr. 1990) (citations omtted). Probable cause
is a "reasonabl e ground for belief of guilt, supported by | ess than
prima facie proof but nore than nere suspicion.” United States v.
One 1978 Chevrolet Inpala, 614 F.2d 983, 984 (5th Cr. 1980) (per

curiam
The governnent can establish probable cause with credible
evi dence, including circunstanti al and hearsay evidence,
denonstrating that the noney or property is related to drug
trafficking. One 1987 Mercedes, 919 F.2d at 331. Once the
gover nnent establishes probable cause, "the burden shifts to the
claimant to denonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that
factual predicates for forfeiture have not been nmet or that a
defense to the forfeiture applies.” United States v. 1988
O dsnobile Cutlass Suprene 2 Door, 983 F.2d 670, 674 (5th Cr.
1993) (footnotes omtted); see also United States v. One 1980 Rol |l s

Royce, 905 F.2d 89, 90 (5th Cir. 1990) (holding that the portion of
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property purchased with legitimate funds is not subject to
forfeiture); United States v. $364,960.00 in United States
Currency, 661 F.2d 319, 325 (5th Gr. Unit B 1981) (noting that the
cl ai mant can rebut governnent's evidence by showi ng that the noney
seized was not used to facilitate a narcotics transaction). The
claimant's failure to refute the governnent's show ng of probable
cause results in forfeiture. One 1987 Mercedes, 919 F.2d at 331.

Because this case is an appeal fromthe district court's grant
of sunmmary judgnent for the governnent, we review the record de
novo. Topalian v. Ehrman, 954 F.2d 1125, 1131 (5th Gr.), cert.
denied, __ US _, 113 S. C. 82, 121 L. Ed. 2d 46 (1992).
Summary judgnent is appropriate if the record discloses "that there
is no genuine issue of material fact and that the noving party is
entitled to judgnent as a matter of law" Fed. R CGCv. P. 56(c).
The party seeking summary judgnent bears the initial burden of
identifying those portions of the pleadings and di scovery on file,
together with any affidavits, which it believes denonstrate the
absence of a genuine issue of material fact. Cel otex Corp. V.
Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 325, 106 S. C. 2548, 2554, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265
(1986). Once the novant carries its burden, the burden shifts to
t he non-novant to show that sunmary judgnent shoul d not be granted.
Id. at 324-25, 106 S. C. at 2553-54. Wiile we nust "review the
facts drawing all inferences nost favorable to the party opposing

the notion," Reid v. State Farm Mut. Ins. Co., 784 F.2d 577, 578



(5th Gr. 1986), that party nust set forth specific facts show ng
the existence of a genuine issue for trial. Anderson v. Liberty
Lobby, Inc., 477 U. S. 242, 256-57, 106 S. C. 2505, 2514, 91 L. Ed.
2d 202 (1986).
A

Harrill initially contends that the governnent failed to
establish, as a matter of | aw, probable cause for the forfeiture of
the $7,000 seized at his office on February 12, 1991. Harrill
argues that the noney seized was derived not from illegal
activities, but from the sale of painting equipnment through
classified newspaper advertisenents. As corroboration, Harril
points to the affidavit of Roy Frazier who testified that he paid
Harrill $5,500 in cash for an air conpressor in Novenber 1990.1

However, the summary judgnent record denonstrates a substantia

connecti on between the $7, 000 sei zed and Harrill's drug activities.
Recei pts and conputer records seized fromHarrill's office indicate
that Harrill had received over $50,000 in drug-related proceeds

bet ween January 27 and February 10, 1991.

W find that the summary judgnent evidence, including
Harrill's own records, established probabl e cause for forfeiture by
! Wthout any sunmary judgnent evidence, Harrill stated in his reply

to the governnent's notion for summary judgnment that he kept this cash at his
office in order to buy and restore painting equipment, and that this noney
constituted a portion of the $7,000 seized by DEA officials. Despite filing
two counter-affidavits in response to the government's notion for sumary
judgnent, Harrill, a pro se litigant, failed to verify his own reply.

Theref ore, we do not consider the unsupported contentions in his reply or
appel late brief as summary judgnent evidence on appeal. See Fed. R Cv. P
56(c) (limting sumary judgment record to pleadings, depositions, answers to
interrogatories, and adm ssions on file, along with affidavits); Topalian, 954
F.2d at 1131 & n.10 (noting that appellate court considers only the sumary
judgnent record before the trial court, thereby precluding parties from
advanci ng new theories or issues on appeal).
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denonstrating a substantial connection between the $7,000 seized
and illegal drug activities. See United States v. One 1986 Ni ssan
Maxi ma G, 895 F.2d 1063, 1065 (5th Gr. 1990) (finding probable
cause established at trial from governnent agents' testinony and
bank records). Neverthel ess, because the summary judgnent record
cont ai ned sone evi dence indicating that the seized funds constitute
the proceeds of legitimte activities, a genuine issue of materi al
fact exists as to the forfeiture of the entire $7,000. See One
1980 Rol I s Royce, 905 F.2d at 90 (finding that legitinmte portions
of seized property are not subject to forfeiture). Therefore, we
reverse this part of the sunmary judgnent.
B

Harrill additionally contends that the governnent failed to
show a substantial connection between the seized office equi pnent
and illegal drug activities. Harrill argues that he used the
facsimle machine, conputer, and telephone in relation to his
legitimate painting business. According to the affidavit of his
brother, Gary Harrill, Harrill purchased the conputer in 1986 and
used it daily for payroll, purchasing, and general bookkeeping for

his painting business.? The summary judgnent record, however,

connects Harrill's illegal drug manufacturing and sales activities
to each forfeited asset. Facsim |l e cover sheets seized from
2 Harrill also argues that he kept accounting, inventory and sal es

information in the conputer to track his legitimte, ongoing sales of painting
equi prent and ephedrine tablets. He also naintains that any calls made on his
cel lular phone related to legitimate activities, such as contacting his

pl unber, Troy Conpton, who has fifteen prior drug arrests and who the DEA
suspect ed of buyi ng met hanphetami ne fromHarrill. However, the summary
judgnent record failed to support these contentions. See supra note 1.
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Harrill's business confirmthat Harrill used the facsimle nmachi ne
to request, order and obtain chemcals wused to manufacture
met hanphet am ne. Furthernore, Harrill used the conputer to record
illegal drug transactions.® The conputer records verified one such
transaction with Troy Conpton. Moreover, according to tel ephone
records, Harrill called individuals suspected by the DEA to be
reci pients of nethanphetamne fromHarrill, including Conpton.

The summary judgnent record thus established probable cause
for forfeiture by linking Harrill's use of the tel ephone, facsimle
machi ne and conputer to his illegal drug activities. See One 1978
Chevrolet Inpala, 614 F.2d at 984-85 (finding that probable cause
for forfeiture established with evidence that a vehicle transported
chem cals used to nmanufacture nethanphetam ne). No fact 1issue
exi sts because the summary judgnent evidence failed to denonstrate
t hat the equi pnent was not used i n conjunction wth the manufacture
of nmet hanphet am ne. See United States v. Lot 9, Block 2 of
Donnybr ook Pl ace, 919 F.2d 994, 998 (5th G r. 1990) (finding that
the defendant nust contradict the governnent's summary judgnent
evidence of an illegal activity to create a genui ne issue of fact
for trial). Therefore, the district court's summary judgnent as to
t hese assets is affirned.

C
Harrill further contends that the chem cals and equi pnent

seized fromhis office and storage facility should not be forfeited

8 Harrill stored the buyers's nanmes, purchase prices, and quantities
of controlled substances distributed in his conputer's files.
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because the governnent has not shown probable cause for the
forfeiture.* The sunmmary judgnent record, however, supports
probabl e cause for the forfeiture of the chem cals and equi pnent
seized. DEA |aboratory tests confirnmed that Harrill was using the
chemcals and equipnent to facilitate the manufacture of
net hanphet am ne.®> DEA agents | ater seized additional chenicals and
equi pnent froma storage unit rented to Harrill. DEA |aboratory
tests of the chemcals indicated that they were simlar to those
seized at Harrill's office. Additionally, DEA agents found ethyl
et her, which is an essential chem cal to manufacturing
net hanphetam ne.® See 21 U.S.C. 802(35)(D) (listing ethyl ether as
a chem cal used as a solvent, reagent, or catal yst in manufacturing
a controlled substance in violation of Title 21).

Because the summary judgnent evidence |inked the seized
chemcals to the manufacture of nethanphetamne and failed to

denonstrate the existence of a genuine issue of material fact

4 Despite this contention, Harrill does not offer any summary
j udgnent evidence denonstrating that the chem cals and equi pnent were not used
to manuf act ure met hanphetam ne. See supra note 1.

5 The tests showed that at the time of the seizure, Harrill was
utilizing the chem cals and equi pnment to extract ephedrine, which is a
precursor chem cal used in the manufacture of methanphetam ne. See 21 U S.C
802(34)(c) (stating that ephedrine, its salts, optical isoners, and salts of
optical isoners are |isted precursor chemcals to be used in the manufacture
of controlled substances in violation of Title 21).

6 The Texas Departnment of Safety allowed Harrill, doing business as
"Sout hwest Coatings," to legally purchase chemicals and gl assware based on his
affirmati on that he planned neither to resale nor buy chemicals or glassware
from out-of-state conpanies. However, Harrill placed orders for chemicals and
gl assware usi ng several business nanes and was receiving | arge anounts of
chenmical s and gl assware from out - of -state conpani es.
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regarding such use, the district court properly ordered the
forfeiture of the chemcals. See One 1978 Chevrolet Inpala, 614
F.2d at 984.
111

Harrill next contends that the all egations in the governnent's
conplaint regarding the seized property |lacked specificity, thus
making him unable to respond adequately to the governnent's
conpl ai nt.

A conplaint for the forfeiture of property under 21 U S. C. 8§
881 is subject to the particularity requirenent of Rule E(2)(a) of
the Supplenental Rules for Certain Admralty and Maritine d ai ns.
See 21 U.S.C. 8 881(b). Rule E(2)(a) provides:

In actions to which this rule is applicable the conpl aint

shal | state the circunstances fromwhich the clai mari ses

W th such particularity that the defendant or clai mant

will be able, wthout noving for a nore definite

statenent, to commence an investigation of the facts and

to frame a responsive pl eadi ng.
Thus, the rule inposes a nore stringent standard than the sinple
notice pleading required by the Federal Rules of C vil Procedure.
See Inre Ranu Corp., 903 F. 2d 312, 317 n.7 (5th CGr. 1990); United
States v. 2323 Charns Rd., 946 F.2d 437, 441 (6th G r. 1991). The
particularity requirenent

assures that the forfeiture conplaint wll apprise

potential claimants of sufficient factual particulars to

support a reasonable belief that the governnent, at

trial, can denonstrate probabl e cause that the defendant

property is traceable as proceeds from an exchange of

control |l ed substances, thereby enabling claimants "to

comence an investigation of the facts and to frane a

responsi ve pl eading."

United States v. One Parcel of Real Property, 921 F.2d 370, 377
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(1st Cir. 1990) (citations omtted).’ However, the governnent need
not denonstrate probable cause for forfeiture in its conplaint.
See 2323 Charns Rd., 946 F.2d at 441 (finding that the governnent
does not have to carry its trial burden during the pleadi ng stage).

Harrill failed to nake any Rule E(2)(a) objection by noving
for either dismssal or a nore definite statenent prior to
answering the governnent's conplaint. C. Fed. R Cv. P. E(2)(a)
(requiring such particularity in the conplaint that a notion for a
nmore definitive statenent is unnecessary). Second, Rule E(2)(a)
mandates only that the conpl aint be sufficiently particular so that
a claimant is able "to commence an investigation of the facts and
to frame a responsive pleading." Presumably, Harrill was able to
commence an investigation of the facts based on the governnent's
conplaint since he answered the conplaint, specifically denying
each of the governnent's all egations. Harrill first raised his
Rule E(2)(a) objection in his response to the governnent's notion
for summary judgnent. Because he already had answered the
conplaint, we find that Harrill waived his Rule E(2)(a) objection
by not raising it either before or in his answer.

Nevert hel ess, assum ng arguendo that Harrill did not waive his
obj ecti on, "whether the conpl aint contai ned sufficient allegations

to conply with the particularity requirenent . . . is an issue of

7 We review both the forfeiture conplaint and any attached
affidavits in determ ning whether the particularity requirement of Rule
E(2)(a) has been satisfied. United States v. Parcels of Land, 903 F.2d 36, 48
(1st CGr.), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 916, 111 S. . 289, 112 L. Ed. 2d 243
(1990); United States v. 4492 South Livonia Rd., 889 F.2d 1258, 1266 (2d Cr.
1989).
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| aw subject to plenary review " United States v. 3097 SSW 111th
Ave., 921 F.2d 1551, 1554 (11th G r. 1991); 2323 Charns Rd., 946
F.2d at 442. The governnent's conplaint and Juvrud's affidavit
descri bed: the control | ed substance))net hanphet am ne ))that Harrill

attenpted to manufacture; the |ocation and val ue of each seized

asset at the time of seizure; how Harrill wused each asset to
facilitate illegal drug activities or, alternatively, howthe asset
was a proceed of Harrill's illegal drug activities; Harrill's

conviction for possession or distribution of ephedrine wth
know edge that it woul d be used to manuf act ure net hanphet am ne; and
Harrill's own records confirmng illegal drug transactions.
Therefore, the governnent's conplaint was sufficiently particul ar
to allow Harrill to both "commence an investigation" and "franme a
responsi ve pl eading."
|V

Finally, Harrill challenges the validity of the search
warrants used by the DEA agents to seize the properties at issue.
Harrill asserts that because the supporting affidavits omtted

material facts, the search warrants were defective. The governnent

contends that Harrill is barred fromlitigating this issue because
we upheld the validity of the search warrants when Harrill appeal ed
his crimnal conviction. See United States v. Harrill, No. 91-

7352, slip op. at 2-5 (5th Gr. Nov. 19, 1992).8 "[A]ln issue

8 In Harrill, we stated:
In sum the material om ssions exception to the good-faith rule

does not apply. The warrant established that the agents acted in
good faith in conducting the search, and their good-faith reliance
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resolved in favor of the United States in a crimnal prosecution
may not be contested by the sanme defendants in a civil suit brought
by the Governnment." Tominson v. Lefkowitz, 334 F. 2d 262, 264 (5th
Cr. 1964), cert. denied, 379 U. S. 962, 85 S. C. 650, 13 L. Ed. 2d
556 (1965). Because Harrill has raised the identical issue in both
his civil and crimnal appeals, our decision in Harrill controls.
Harrill thus is collaterally estopped fromreasserting his claim
concerning the validity of the search warrants. United States v.
"MONKEY", 725 F.2d 1007, 1010 (5th Gr. 1984).
\%
Accordingly, we AFFIRM I N PART and REVERSE AND REMAND | N PART

the decision of the district court.

was objectively reasonable. W do not reach the issue of probable
cause. Because the first search of the prem ses was | egal

evi dence sei zed pursuant to the second search warrant obtai ned
after the first search began is not inadni ssible.

Slip op. at 4-5 (citations onmtted).
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